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rominent Toronto architect John
George Howard [1803-1890]
presented the City of Toronto
with a very great gift in 1873, his large
west end estate of High Park. In the sev-
enteen years that followed, he managed
the process that turned his farm from an
isolated retreat in the country into an ur-
ban park of almost 400 acres. This article
looks at John Howard’s efforts to develop
this park, as well as his continuing influ-
ence in the years after his death. It also
examines the idea of a natural or forest
park in an urban setting and the ideas,
events, and individuals that have shaped
High Park.
Most cities in the new world were
established on a body of water with the

natural environment—often impenetra-
ble forest—all around. The transition
from clearing in the forest to urban cent-
er was often rapid. Enormous changes
within the lifetime of pioneers saw the
once feared forest become a source of
nostalgia. Remnants that survived the
initial onslaught were sometimes recy-
cled as parks. It did not seem to matter
if they were altered, or indeed if they had
to be rebuilt into some resemblance of
the former landscape, they now became
worth preserving. Canadian city parks
like Halifax’s Point Pleasant Park [1866],
Vancouver’s Stanley Park [1886], and
High Park are examples that both define
and stand in contrast to their particular
urban environment.!

! The development of Point Pleasant and Stanley parks also depended on the survival of large proper-
ties and the single-minded dedication of key figures. Point Pleasant Park was originally a garrison reserve
outside of Halifax. Although most of the original forest was removed while it was in military hands, the
185-acre site was eventually reforested and maintained under the strong direction of a parks committee. It
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High Park, circa 1920, Pl}stmm'_ ﬁ’(;m the collection f{/ the author.
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In 1837, architect John George Howard purchased
165 acres west of Toronto as a country estate that he
named High Park. In 1876, he donated his land to
the city and, almost until his death in 1890, was the
primary force behind the planning and development
of a natural or forest park that is almost 400 acres
in size today. This article looks at John Howards
efforts during his lifetime, as well as his continuing
influence in the decades after his death. It also ex-
amines the idea of a forest park in an urban setting,
and the ideas, events and individuals that have
shaped one of Canada’s important urban parks.

Résumé: En 1837, larchitecte John George
Howard fit lacquisition de High Park, une propriété
campagnarde de 165 acres a louest de Toronto.

En 1876, il fit don de cette propriété i la ville de
Toronto dans le but de servir a [établissement
d'un parc forestier. Dans cet article nous retragons
les efforts de John Howard, le véle primordial
quil joua, et Uinfluence qu'il a ene, méme aprés

sa mort, survenue en 1890, dans lorganisation,
létablissement et le développement de ce parc qui
compte anjourd hui plus de 400 acres. Nous ex-
aminons aussi le concept de l'existence d'un parc
Jorestier a lintérieur d'une zone urbaine, et les
idées, événements et personnes qui ont permis et
contribués activement 4 la formation de ce parc,
Lun des plus importants parcs urbains du Canada.

John Howard arrived in the town
of York as a young man, with his wife
Jemima, in 1832. Behind him were early

careers as a seaman, surveyor, architect,
and speculative builder. There were op-
portunities in the colonies for a sober,
hardworking, and ambitious man. In the
course of his career, he was the architect
of important early buildings, as well as a
popular art instructor at Upper Canada
College, a surveyor for the City of To-
ronto, a land developer and a Justice of
the Peace.

In 1837, John Howard purchased
the 160-acre Park Lot 37 on Lake On-
tario, some four miles west of downtown
Toronto from King’s College, for 160
pounds.* Although engineer and publish-
er James Cull had already been allowed
to remove pine forest from this park lot
to be used to build Toronto wharfs,? it
remained picturesque, a rugged and un-
even landscape covered in part with pine
and oak forest, but also featuring areas of
typical open, grassy oak savannah. It had
numerous water features, most notably
a large body of water named Grenadier
Pond in the southwest corner linking
directly to Lake Ontario.* It also had a
sandy lakefront beach. From this time
onwards, John and Jemima Howard lived
in the country—in Colborne Lodge, the

remains a forest park resisting, for example, automobile traffic and sports facilities. See Janet Kitz and Gary
Castle, Point Pleasant Park: An illustrated history (Halifax: Pleasant Point Publishing, 1999). Stanley Park,
at slightly less than 1,000 acres, owes the original preservation of its forest cover to city councilman Lauch-
lan Hamilton. Over time, authorities in Vancouver have tried to create a balance in Stanley Park between
the forest and other urban needs. See Robert A.J. McDonald, “’Holy retreat or ‘practical breathing spot’
class perceptions of Vancouver’s Stanley Park,” Canadian Historical Review 2 (1984), 127-53.

* County of York. Abstract of deeds 139A.

3 Swansea souvenir brochure, 1936 ([Swansea, Ont.]: Swansea Historical Society, ¢.1997), 23. Cull
presumably had some sort of arrangement with Kings College, that institution being the original owner of
both Park Lots 37 and 38.

% Only the southeastern tip of Grenadier Pond fell on Park Lot 37, with by far the greater portion on
Park Lot 38. Park Lot 38 was owned by the Ellis family.
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Tremaine’s Map of the County of York from the Hu

mber River to Toronto, 1860

High Park developed from a portion of the Ellis property and all of the adjoining Howard and Ridout properties.
The other Howard property closer to the city is Sunnyside. The daunting distance between Toronto and the future
park is apparent in this map. The direct road route to High Park was Queen Street, which became the Lakeshore
Road after crossing the railway tracks ar Sunnyside. Given the distance, the lakeshore railway was the best trans-

portation alternative for most citizens going to the park. Other road and rail connections from the populated

southern part of the city angle north and west past the future park. Courtesy of Toronto Reference Library

cottage he designed overlooking Lake
Ontario—and he made the trip from the
city in every sort of weather, embracing
the isolation from the pressures of his
career and fulfilling his ambition to be
a country squire. Although very busy,
Howard owned guns and sometimes
hunted; he occasionally hosted picnics or
gatherings; both he and Jemima Howard
were artists; he took an interest in his
farming operation; and gardening was a

passion, especially during his retirement
years.

It must be noted, however, that, de-
spite his love of High Park, Howard al-
ways viewed it, and all his other scattered
land holdings, as investments. In 1836,
even in the process of acquisition of his
park lot, he did a speculative develop-
ment plan breaking it into villa lots.> He
also exploited the natural resources on his
parklot, benefitingfrom usinglumberand

> Shitley G. Morriss, The Journal of John George Howard, 1833-49, vol. 2 (Toronto: Ontario Heritage
Foundation, Ministry of Citizenship and Culture, 198-), 39 (21 May 1836). [Hereafter cited as Journal].
Another suggestion of his practical approach to his own land was when, on 9 November of the same year,

he went “...to the Humber to lay off some Acre lots.”
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other resources for building projects.® In
1843, he advertised in one of the Toronto
newspapers to try to lease what sounds a
great deal like Colborne Lodge and a por-
tion of High Park.” He leased the farming
operation to a Mr. Lawrie in 1849.%

In 1853, due to the pressures of busi-
ness, John Howard and his wife took a
trip to England and, thereafter, he began
reshape his business and personal life. Al-
though he slowly shed his roles as archi-
tect, teacher, and City employee, he could
hardly be said to have retired. Instead, in
the years between 1854 and 1873, John
Howard concentrated more and more on
his own properties, principally as a land
speculator. Most of his efforts focused on
Park Lot 35, called Sunnybrook, just to
the east of High Park, acquired in 1848
from the principal of Upper Canada
College, Frederick W. Barron.” His two

park lots now cemented his role as a lead-
ing west end citizen and developer.”” In
1854, he paid to have a native trail, by
then a local road that wound through
Sunnybrook, turned into a public street
called Indian Road, running from Bloor
Street to the Lakeshore Road. He also did
his best to have a major crossing street
from Dundas Street to High Park, but
neighbours to the west of the new road
refused, protesting that he was trying to
“materially benefit” his own property."!
While this was no doubt true, a public
crossing road to High Park at this time
would certainly have been an early move
towards improving circulation in the
area, perhaps preventing later problems.
Although the remainder of the 1850s
saw Howard’s focus remain on Sunny-
side,'? he also advertised all 165 acres of

High Park for sale in 1862."% Apparently

¢ For example, Howard insisted that red and white pine from his estate be used in the early work at
one of his major commissions, the Provincial Lunatic Asylum, which would have amounted to a great deal
of timber removed in the mid 1840s. See William Dendy, Lost Toronto, 2nd ed. (Toronto: McClelland &

Stewart Inc., 1993), 165.

7 [Ad] Star, 26 July 1843. Although High Park is not specifically mentioned, details suggest Col-
borne Lodge. The ad offers: “A genteel cottage, handsomely furnished, with from 20 to 100 acres of
park or meadow land, delightfully situated on the Lake Shore, within four miles of Toronto.” The actual
distance to High Park from City Hall is a little longer, but the description fits. Howard did not own Sun-

nyside, slightly closer to the city, until 1848.

$ Journalvol. 6: 75 (July 30, 1849) “leased farm to a Mr. Lawrie”
? County of York, Abstract of deeds 1394. Howard built a house, Sunnyside, on this lot in 1850, later

the site of St. Joseph’s Hospital.

1 Howard took a strong interest in local issues like roads, and fought to protect his own interests in
matters like taxation. He was also concerned about development on private property, trying to influence
what was allowed to happen on land he sold, or offering opinions on neighbour’s plans.

! City of Toronto, Culture Division, Museum Services [thereafter CDMS], 1978-41-202, ].G.
Howard’s report on the state of tracks..., 23 June 1877.

12 See, for example, “Villa Lots for Sale,” Globe, 16 April 1855 & “Ontario Park,” Globe, 28 April 1857.

1> “To be sold, Colborne Lodge High Park, Toronto,” Globe, 12 May 1862. This ad details provides a
snap shot of the property at the time: “...comprising 165 acres of land, all cleared. The Lodge contains 15
rooms, bath-room, water-closet? and cellars?, stables, carriage-house, barn, and root cellars, ice-house, etc.
The Farm House, detached, contains 62 Rooms and cellar?, with large barn, stable and sheds. The proprie-
tor has expended a very large sum in improvements upon the above premises within the last few years.”



he did not receive any offers worth con-
sidering since, by 1864, he had turned
to the idea of subdividing High Park. A
map from that year drawn by Howard of
Park Lots 35, 36, and 37 shows the area
of High Park north of the Howard resi-
dence divided into 8 large lots between 7
and 27% acres in size.!*

Almost ten years later, in 1873, when
John Howard made his offer of a park to
the city of Toronto, he stated that he had
“wished for many years” that his property
would become “a place of public resort for
the citizens, by which means I should be
identified with the...City for ever” > If he
is taken at his word, and his thinking did
shift from developer to public benefac-
tor after 1864, one reason might be that
his land sales at Sunnyside and elsewhere
finally freed him from financial worry.
Certainly his own experiences with the
design of Toronto’s public landscape gave
him a special sensitivity towards the city’s
growing needs. He was, after all, the man
responsible for the design of Toronto’s St.
James Cemetery [1842] and he also pre-
pared surveys and plans for park develop-
ment of the waterfront in the 1840s and
1850s and prepared plans for a proposed

Toronto park on the Garrison Common

JOHN HOWARD'S HIGH PARK

in 1851.

The idea of Howard’s own property
as a public open space may not have fully
developed until early 1873, when the
idea of a west-end park was very much
in the news. With the established major
downtown open space, C&een’s Park, in
jeopardy, a portion of the former military
lands of the Garrison Common, between
High Park and the center of the city, was
being touted as a west-end park. A Globe
editorialist noted in February of that
year: “We do not ask for anything so ex-
pensive as the Central Park of New York;
but at a mere fraction of the cost the
same good might be secured as the Man-
hattanites enjoy in that splendid oasis
among their deserts of brick and stone.*¢
Another February letter to the Globe
from “Subscriber” promoted the acquisi-
tion of not only the Garrison Common,
but portions of park lots 22, 23, 24 and
25, north of suburban Trinity College.
“...rather than have no park at all, I say by
all means purchase the Common, but let
us have another park somewhere.”"”

Howard’s offer came first as a letter
to the press from Howard’s representative
William Boulton, followed immediately
thereafter by a communication to the city

1 City of Toronto Archives, Plan of Lots Numbers 35, 36, 37 First Con. Township of York Feby. [2], 1864.

1 Toronto City Council Minutes. Appendix to the minutes [thereafter TCCA], 7 June 1873.

16 “A New west-end park,” Globe, 12 February 1873. This brief quote suggests the attitude of the aver-
age Torontonian of the day towards a soft service like parks. They wanted them but they didn’t want to pay
for them. There was often much discussion when privately owned park lots or blocks of government lands
were developed for housing or other purposes, since, in British colonial situations, the idea was that some
of the best of these should eventually, one way or another, be made available as public open spaces.

17“A Western park,” Globe, 21 February 1873. Several aspects of this long letter suggest Howard
himself as the author. For example, the letter sounds like it was written by a speculative builder: “Even as
a speculation for the city, [the North halves of park lots 22, 23, 24 and 25] would pay handsomely if part
was sold again in villa building lots ten or fifteen years hence.” Similar thoughts were expressed later by
Howard to raise money to lighten the burden of acquiring the Ridout lands as a part of High Park. [See

5



High Park Gate 1870 . Looking north from Lake Ontario the Howard landscape is peaceful and settled, over-
looked by John Howards picturesque Colborne Lodge. Note the train to the right, a tip of the hat to Victorian
progress. John Howard watercolour, courtesy of Toronto Public Library T11328

council. In his communication, Howard
stated that, for three years, the site was
to remain totally in his hands. In 1876,
120 acres were to pass to the City. After
the deaths of John and Jemima Howard,
Colborne Lodge and the forty-five prime
acres along the lakeshore were also to pass
to the city. No clearing was to be done on
either site. While either remained alive,
they were to be paid $1,200 dollars per
annum." The mayor and councilors were
“unanimously delighted” by the property

when they visited the site on June 14th."”
Thereafter, there were a few quibbles and
mild expressions of anxiety, but Howard’s
terms were quietly accepted by city offi-
cials. The deed was signed in November
and included several more conditions,
namely that no additional buildings were
permitted and that no drinking was to be
allowed.” Given the conditions he had
imposed, it was clear from the start that
the donor intended to be a moving force
in the new park’s development.

TCCA. Communication from John G. Howard, Esq...: “...sell fifty acres on the cast side [of the Ridout
land]...to lay out fifteen villa lots of three acres each...”] Subscriber continues: “This ground is...peculiarly
adapted for a park, having two or three ravines with creeks of spring water running into small lakes; It is
also partially wooded, making even as it stands, a most picturesque spot.” This might have been Howard,
at a slightly later date, talking about the attributes that he felt would make High Park desirable. At the
least, if Subscriber is not Howard, this letter would have given High Park’s owner reason for reflection.

8 TCCA, Memorandum stating my views of conveying Colborne Lodge High Park to the Corpora-

tion of the City of Toronto, no. 100, 7 June 1873.

19 “A Trip to the Howard Farm,” Globe, 15 July 1873.
2 County of York. Indenture, 15 November 1873.



What exactly did
Torontonians think that
this windfall had brought
them? A lack of response
from the average citizen
in the press and elsewhere
suggest that the new park,
perhaps due to its distant
location, simply did not
awaken strong feelings,
cither for or against the
idea. Community leaders
supported the acquisi-
tion, but varied in their
ideas of what the park
should be. To William
Boulton, as stated in the

a resort, to include ho-
tels near the lake, and a
steamer service.”! It might be, in other
words, the public equivalent of the near-
by private resorts available to Toronto-
nians by boat or train on the occasion of
any public holiday. To the editorial staff
at the Globe, placing it in a larger per-
spective, the western park was to be part
of an internal network with improved
drives linking parks.** To city politicians,
the new park was simply a windfall. As
one alderman noted, “Mr. Howard’s farm
[is] a beautiful spot, nature [has] done
very much for it, and...this opportunity
should not be lost of getting a very fine
park for very little.”>

2 “Public Park,” Globe, 16 June 1873.

John George Howard (1874). The
future Forest Ranger is shown dur-

Globe, the idea was of ing the period when he was plan-

ning the park. Courtesy of Toronto
Reference Library T32150

No matter that oth-
ers were vague about
their thoughts on the
new park, John Howard
had been shaping his
own landscape for dec-
ades. His rural retreat
among the trees was a
landscape that blended
nature and history. His
Regency cottage, farm
buildings, and art gallery
sat on a hill overlooking
Lake Ontario. From this
high place, an island of
manicured lawns and ex-
pansive flowerbeds, there
Wwere panoramic  views
of the vast lake and rus-
tic Grenadier Pond, and
glimpses of groves and forest only lightly
touched by human presence. Howard
consciously preserved touchstones to the
past, like native trails, and added grace
points, like the modest wooden dock
and boathouse among the reeds and
grasses at the edge of Grenadier Pond.
While Howard’s abilities as an archi-
tect and surveyor were useful, this was a
landscape that owed much to its owner’s
exposure to the artistic trends of the day.
His pictures of High Park show both
the sublime and the picturesque that he
treasured in the landscape. His 1847 for-
est drawing, Cedar Swamp, likely of High

22 “Western park,” Globe, 21 February 1873. The idea of linking parks was talked about in the press
and at council meetings in the 1870s and 1880s, but did not gain steam until the mid 1880s when Alder-
man John Hallam’s leadership led to the establishment of Rosedale Valley Park.

# “City Council,” Globe, 22 July 1873.
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Park, shows Howard dwarfed by tower-
ing cedars, while his watercolour at the
entrance to Colborne Lodge [see illust.,
p- 8], is of a more settled pastoral land-
scape.* Howard was now determined to
preserve his landscape for future genera-
tions.

For the conversion from estate to
park, John Howard had a string of park-
like precedents close at hand. His own
much admired east-end cemetery, St.
James [1842]—winding roads through
an uneven terrain on the lip of the
wooded Don Valley—was the first Ca-
nadian picturesque cemetery.26 He was
also likely responsible for Caer Howell
[1836- ¢.1846], on the northern edge
of Toronto, an urban pleasure ground
that featured a string of recreational fo-

cal points strung along Taddle Creek in

awooded valley on the southwest corner
of today’s University Avenue and Col-
lege Street.”” Outside of the city, Howard
was able to refer to dozens of examples
of waterfront resorts that dotted the
Lake Ontario shoreline. From the 1850s
onward, day trips from Toronto visited
such resorts in or near tourist destina-
tions like Niagara Falls, St. Catharines
and Hamilton. Oaklands, on Burlington
Bay near Hamilton, for example, would
have suggested an appropriate mix for a
natural park. It was smaller than High
Park but offered a balanced blend of ele-
ments: a five-acre garden, fourteen acres
of park and twenty-one acres of wood-
land.?®

In the grace period from 1873 to
1876, John Howard now became High
Park’s on-site surveyor, designer and su-

* See J. Russell Harper, Painting in Canada (Toronto: University of Toronto Press), 134-37. John
Howard was not only a dedicated amateur but also a pioneer in the Toronto art community. He was a
moving force behind the Society of Artists and Amateurs of Toronto in 1834 and built his own early art
gallery at High Park. Also a dedicated amateur artist was Lauchlan Hamilton, of Stanley Park, who used
his considerable influence as a CPR land commissioner and Vancouver councilor to help preserve a sub-
lime wilderness setting as a municipal park.

 John Howard’s approach as an artist is also comparable of the way that British sportsmen interpret-
ed the Canadian landscape. Aesthetically, these sportsmen, gentlemen all, used familiar British landscapes,
as well as sublime, but familiar European landscapes, to appropriate and control the new world landscapes.
See Greg Gillespie, “The Imperial embrace: British sportsmen and the appropriation of landscape in nine-
teenth-century Canada.” Ph.D. diss., University of Western Ontario, 2001.

% See Canadian Encyclopedia, 2000 ed., s. v. “Landscape architecture.” It is noted is this entry that
Howard consulted a guidebook to Mount Auburn Cemetery [1831], near Boston, to guide him in his
work. The first picturesque cemetery, it was a popular destination for Bostonians, as was St. James for To-
rontonians.

*7 It is not certain that Howard was the designer of Caer Howell but, given his relationship with
Propricetor Alexander Erskine, he would seem the likeliest candidate. He was consulted about alterations
to Alexander Erskine’s house in September 1833 and later designed a racket court [likely the one in Caer
Howell] for him in 1837. See Journal, 1: 143 & 2: 111. For more on Caer Howell, see David Bain, “The
Early Pleasure Grounds of Toronto,” Ontario History (Autumn 1999), 167-68.

2 Hamilton Spectator, 24 September 1858. The Hamilton area had a considerable number of resorts,
as well as urban pleasure grounds. In the last half of the nineteenth century, the community was a draw for
day tripping tourists from Toronto and elsewhere, with its sublime “mountain” [the Niagara Escarpment]
and outstanding waterfront setting.



JOHN HOWARD'S HIGH PARK

High Park Plan c.1875. This plan

is most likely the one submitted to the
City in March 1875. It assumes the
addition of the Ridout property to the
east, which happened soon thereafter,
and the Ellis property, including most
of Grenadier Pond, to the west, which
proved to be decades in the future.

The main entry road leads from the
southeast corner of the Ridout property
to the future picnic grounds on the
heights above Grenadier Pond. It thus
avoids the Howard home and farm

in the south central portion of the site.
The Howard entrance, not available
to park visitors, is midway along the
south property line, and is today the
main southern entry. Howard's efforts
to promote roads from Indian Road,
at a point north of his property, are
shown by a road past the Ridout farm
buildings in the northeast corner, and
a more tentative entry just south of
that road. Plan, courtesy of City of
Toronto. Culture Division. Museum
Services.

perintendent. He presented
several plans and models of the
park to the city in 1874. His
foremost idea was that the park
should be bigger, and, in March of 1875,
a communication to city council indicat-
ed that he was now in serious negotiation
with his neighbours to east and west, the
Ridout and Ellis families respectively.”
A plan accompanied this communica-

tion.** In this plan, there was a central
tree-lined roadway from an entrance at
Bloor Street, with a western loop onto
the Ellis property and an eastern loop
onto the Ridout property, the eastern
loop connecting to a second road, Ridout

¥ TCCA, A36, [Walks and Gardens Report #4], 1 March 1875. John Howard’s public comments on
park design were often piecemeal, as though he had just gotten a new idea from an article in a newspaper
or magazine. We know something of the nature of John Howard’s periodical reading since, at a later date,
he donated 34 volumes of the Builder to the Toronto Public Library, also 61 volumes of London lllustrated
news and 34 volumes of Scientific American. [Globe, 1 August 1884]. In this particular Walks and Gardens
report, Howard included a list of the sizes of British parks, from Regent Park at 401 acres to St. James Park
at 58 acres. Probably published in the Builder, this list was presumably intended to demonstrate the range

of sizes for an ideal park.

30 CDMS. This plan is untitled and undated but, from Howard’s description in Walks and Gardens
Report # 4, 1875, it is likely that this was the plan that accompanied the communication of 1 March.

9




10

ONTARIO HISTORY

Street, from the east.’! As the southern or
Howard portion of the central tree-lined
roadway was private, a third entrance
road ran from Lake Shore Road, at the
southeast corner of the proposed Ridout
addition, to the center of the park. Af-
ter much negotiation by John Howard,
Mr. Ridout’s 170 acres now proved to be
available for $15,000 [$85.25 per acre]
and was soon purchased in early 1876,
with little discussion.’> Soon thereafter,
M. Ellis also made a verbal proposal to
the Parks and Walks Committee for 58.5
acres of his property at $150 per acre.”?
However, this price was considered too
high and, although negotiations contin-
ued for some time, no deal resulted, and
most of Grenadier Pond and the adja-
cent lands remained outside the park for
decades. An immediate benefit of the
acquisition of the Ridout land was that
Howard was now able to develop his
principal entry road from the southeast
corner. The trip was close to a mile to the
picnic ground through swamp and for-
est, but this road solved both the prob-
lem of circumventing Howard’s forty-five
acres in the southwest corner, and having
an entrance oriented towards Lake Shore
Road, in combination with Queen and
King Streets, the only plausible route
from the heart of the city.

The year 1875 saw a reawakening of
an ongoing public debate about Toron-

to’s lack of parks. Although early nine-
teenth-century Toronto had been rich
in open spaces, they started to disappear
at an ecarly date and continued to erode
throughout the century. Private citizens
developed their grants. Pollution, indus-
trialization, and the railroads claimed the
waterfront, along with its 1818 prom-
enade. Pollution also claimed the deep
Toronto valleys and most were filled to
bury garbage and facilitate transporta-
tion. Three large adjacent squares in the
west end of downtown, Simcoe Place,
the Government House block, and Rus-
sell Square, survived the century, but the
municipality never had any real chance
of obtaining any of them from powerful
government and educational establish-
ments. Toronto’s great nineteenth-centu-
ry park, Queens Park [1860], was north
of downtown, the result of a shaky alli-
ance between the municipality and the
University of Toronto. The other park
of note, the ten-acre Horticultural Gar-
dens [1860], later Allan Gardens [1903],
functioned primarily as the setting of a
popular pavilion. Downtown, there were
virtually no public open spaces, especially
of the sort that welcomed poorer citizens.
They could not often afford the trains or
boats to distant green spaces, settling for
the crowded Island ferry or perhaps a
streetcar to the picturesque Don Valley,
cast of the city.*

31 South of Ridout Street, there is a second east side entrance road, drawn in a rather shaky hand,

which looks to be a later addition.

32 Globe, 4 May 1875. Howard had earlier suggested developing villa lots on some 55 acres to finance
the cost of acquisition. See TCCA, A36, [Walks and Gardens Committee Report #4], 1 March 1875.

33 “Walks and Gardens,” Télegram, 11 May 1875.

34 Toronto Island, in particular, was a favorite place among all classes of Torontonians in the nine-



The 1875 debate now resulted in a
competition to redesign the much-loved
ueen’s Park and to design Phoenix [Riv-
erdale] Park in the east and High Park in
the west. While, in the end, the parks
competition of 1876 proved to be largely
smoke and mirrors, John Howard made
it a personal platform for the introduc-
tion of his High Park philosophy. When
the mayor and members of the Parks
and Walks Committee sought Howard’s
opinion on the various High Park sub-
missions, he took the opportunity to
encourage the city ofhicials “to spend
but little money in artificial adornments,
which would be malapropos to the na-
tive beauty of the whole surroundings.”*
Reporting on the various High Park sub-
missions, he stated that they were all of
no use whatever. His opinion of Henry
Engelhardt’s plan® was typical. He called
it “a fancy plan...without reference to the
form of the grounds.” A quote from the
British periodical the Builder was em-
ployed to underline his own direction:

All our parks, ¥ Kensington gardens included,
are artificial, too much so, many people think:
nothing is allowed any wildness of growth.
A square mile or two of rough ground with

JOHN HOWARD'S HIGH PARK

Dame Nature as sole gardener close to Lon-
don Town is a thing worth trying for.

Howard continued,

You have the Horticultural Gardens, the
Queen’s and the Phoenix [Riverdale] Parks:
they can be laid out with walks and gardens
because they are in the immediate neigh-
bourhood of the city. I trust the Chairman
and Committee on Walks and Gardens will
be warned in time not to allow the beauti-
ful grounds of High Park being cut up into
roads, walks, and flower beds by pretenders
to the profession of landscape architects. I
say very little is required to be done upon
these romantic grounds further than enclos-
ing them with a fence and giving the public
two entrances. I trust, before you attempt
to lay out much money on what is called

beautifying the grounds, you will consult Mr.
Olmstead [sic].*®

Consulting Frederick Law Olmsted
[1822-1903], the designer of Central
Park [1863] would have been an excel-
lent idea. Decades prior to the opening
of New York’s influential park, Howard
felt he had used the Olmsted approach at
St. James Cemetery.

I laid out all the roads and paths, taking ad-

vantage of the lay of the land, and preserving
as many of the best trees as possible...Olm-

teenth century, and remains so even to the present day. Of Toronto Island, Patricia Jasen noted that:
“...while hardly a wilderness, it offered something of a return to nature, with beaches, trees, and freedom
from certain urban conventions.” See Patricia Jasen, Wild things: nature, culture, and tourism in Ontario

1790-1914 (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1995), 130.

3 Telegram, 28 June 1876.

3¢ His plan was named “Large Excelsior,” for anonymity. Engelhardt is best remembered as the de-
signer of Mount Pleasant Cemetery, which opened in November of 1876.

37 His use of the phrase “All our parks” suggests that the Royal Parks of London, like Kensington,
rather than the new public parks of England and the United States, were at least a starting point for him.
Like High Park, they were estates gradually being opened up to the public, parks with the high level of

decorum that he desired.
38 “«

High Park proposals. Mr. Howard’s report,” Telegram, 12 July 1876. The original source given for

the quote was Builder was 11 June 1874, but a search in this source failed to find this article.
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stead [sic.] always drew his plans after the
roads and walks had been laid out according
to the lay of the land. ¥

While Olmsted might have approved of
Howard’s technique for locating roads,
and would certainly have been enthusi-
astic about the design opportunities pro-
vided by the rugged landscape of High
Park, “Dame Nature as sole gardener”
was counter to his approach in an ur-
ban park. Instead, he strived to help the
public pursue a tranquil state of mind,
through broad landscape effects—the
creation of a work of art—with the pic-
turesque aspects secondary to the pasto-
ral. Even at Montreal’s Mount Royal Park
[1876], a challenging site for a man who
often started with a blank canvas, his fo-
cus on urban needs was primary, with the
site playing a secondary role.*’

% Ibid.

Nevertheless, Howards own vision
of rough ground first and people second
now found a Toronto audience, without
apparently any great need for public dis-
cussion. This may have been because his
forest and field landscape was a comfort-
able fit, with something of the sense of the
Royal forests of Great Britain. Howard
and the rest of predominantly British
population of Toronto certainly would
have recollections of such large mani-
cured forests as Sherwood with little un-
dercover, scattered fields of wildflowers,
tilled fields, and even villages.*! His rev-
erence for such forests is underlined by
the fact that, a few years down the road,
he asked for and was granted the ofhicial
title of Forest Ranger or Keeper of the
Royal Forest.** Such forests were very
open and, perhaps tellingly, Howard’s

“The construction of Mount Royal Park was fraught with problems, causing Olmsted to attempt to
educate the politicians and the people of Montreal, on more then one occasion, that, although they were
dealing with a unique site, people’s needs were primary. Alex Murray quoted Olmsted on this point, also
noting a shift in the great man’s thinking: “As a general rule, [Olmsted] wrote, rugged and broken ground
is the last that should be chosen for a public recreation ground in the immediate vicinity of a large city.
But as he got into the project, Olmsted became increasingly convinced that the deficiencies of the site

could be turned into assets. The essential genius of the mountain must be established...” See A.L. Murray,
“Frederick Law Olmsted and the design of Mount Royal Park, Montreal,” Journal of the Society of Archi-
tectural Historians 26:4 (October 1967), 166. For details on Mount Royal, see also: “Planning a park on a
mountain site” in The Papers of Frederick Law Olmsted supplementary series volume 1. Writings on pub-
lic parks, parkways, and park systems, edited by Charles E. Beveridge and Carolyn F. Hoffman (Baltimore:
The Johns Hopkins Press, 1997), 350-418. The ongoing work at Mount Royal was reported in the daily
press in Toronto and John Howard would have had at least some exposure to the discussions around the
design of that important municipal park.

# 'The Royal forests were hunting preserves that once covered a large part of Britain. Once the do-
main of royalty, they were protected by their own legal code. Citizens were granted rights to, for example,
graze livestock and remove firewood. The surviving British forests, according by Patricia Jasen, were con-
nected with class and privilege, perhaps suggesting why the public acquisition of such a landscape as a park
would appeal to British North Americans. See Jasen, Wild things, 82.

“ According to The Oxford English Dictionary, ranger was, during the nineteenth century, “the official
title of the keepers of the royal parks.” Ranger of the forest was previously a forest officer or gamekeeper.
At least one alderman was unclear to what the position was about and felt the title should not come
without any definition of duties. Another thought that, perhaps in lieu of an elderly forest ranger, council
should be considering a park board to oversee park development. See “City Council. High Park,” Globe, 9



own woodlands were opened up by a
routine removal of the underbrush in the
years following his semi-retirement in
1853.

In the early years of the new park,
John Howard’s main strategy was to facil-
itate access. He donated two acres of land
between Dundas Street and Indian Road
that permitted a road between Dundas
and the park. He supervised construc-
tion of this road and its extension into
the park to intersect the main entry road
from the lakeshore, with construction
completed in 1878.% Previously he had
designed a railway platform that was built
on Lake Shore Road, near the foot of In-
dian Road, with trains already stopping
here in 1877. In late 1879, he contrib-
uted plans and $100 of his own money
towards an improved covered platform.*
Aware of the ongoing revenue needed for
the big park, he had early on indicated to
authorities that he felt that one quarter of
the revenue from Parks and Walks prop-
erty, about $2,000 per annum, might go

JOHN HOWARD'S HIGH PARK

to High Park.® In fact, in the first years,
this is more or less what happened, with
money spend on roads, a pavilion over-
looking Grenadier Pond as well as rough
sheds, latrines, and a shelter with table
and fireplace, all Howard designs.*
However, the greatest barrier to
success was the park’s isolation. For the
minority able to come by carriage or
taxi, the most direct route along Queen
Street and Lake Shore Road had miles of
inadequate roads and multiple railway
crossings. While the Great Western Rail-
road did provide regular suburban train
service, the location of the High Park
station, near Indian Road in the south-
east corner of the park, was far from the
picnic grounds.” In the carly days, the
walk to the park from the platform was
also dangerous, requiring visitors to cross
the tracks from the railway platform lo-
cated on the north side of the road, walk
along Lake Shore Road to the entrance,
and cross over the tracks again by way of
several gates.*® Other transportation pos-

July 1878. Thereafter, Howard often added the initials ER. after his signature.

# See TCCA, A386, [Committee on Property Report # 10], 10 October 1877 and TCCA, A49,
[Committee on Property Report #2], 12 February 1878. This second entrance was in the vicinity of
today’s High Park Avenue, some % of a mile up Indian Road and less than % mile short of the northern
boundary at Bloor Street. The idea was to connect busy Dundas, Street to the park at a point to the north
where this street ran close to the park, but also to locate the new entry fairly close to the midway point of
the long east side of the park. This is likely the second road from the east that was added to the 1875 map.

“TCCA, A682, [Executive Committee Report #36], 25 September 1879. Either at this time or soon
thereafter, maps indicate that the platform was relocated in the southeast corner of the park near the en-

trance.

B TCCA, A432, [Committee on Property Report #19], 18 June 1878.

“ Toronto Reference Library, John George Howard. Papers. Section III, 399 [Design for Rough
Sheds] & 400 [Design for a Rustic Pavilion, also privies] & 403 [latrine, also shelter with table &
fireplace]. His plans for High Park Station are also held at Toronto Reference Library.

47 Built in 1874, the first stati